NO. 72166-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, V. THAN DINH LE, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY The Honorable Laura Inveen, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. INTRODUCTION

This appeal stems from a judgment and sentence that imposed 60 months of incarceration on Le Dinh Than for selling undercover Seattle police officer Emily Clark crushed aspirin for \$30. Notwithstanding that this case is the product of police practices and prosecutorial decision-making that repugnantly target poor, nonviolent, low-level drug users of color for lengthy incarcerations. Le asks this court to reverse for five reasons.

First, there was insufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for bail jumping because the State never produced evidence of any court order that released Le, and a release order is an essential element of the crime. Le's bail jumping conviction must accordingly be reversed and the charge dismissed.

Second, Clark referred to drug users targeted in her sting operations as "criminals" and "bad guys" during her testimony. The trial court overruled defense counsel's objection, which gave credence to Clark's opinion that Le was, indeed, a "bad guy." These impermissible comments on Le's guilt rendered Le's trial unfair and require reversal.

Third, the prosecutor maligned defense counsel during his closing, likening defense counsel's argument to "Alice's rabbit hole" and outside the "reasonable realm of thought." The trial court overruled defense counsel's

objections, again aligning itself with the State's disparagement of Le and his lawyer. The prosecutor's misconduct requires reversal.

Fourth, the mandatory reasonable doubt instruction requires jurors to explain or articulate a reason for having a reasonable doubt. This undermines the presumption of innocence by shifting the burden of proof to defendants. Washington's reasonable doubt instruction is constitutionally infirm.

Fifth, in the event that this court determines that each error standing alone does not warrant reversal, this court should nonetheless reverse because the cumulative effect of these errors requires it.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State presented insufficient evidence to sustain Le's conviction for bail jumping.
- 2. Le was denied a fair trial when the court permitted a law enforcement witness to express improper opinions on his guilt.
- 3. The prosecutor committed misconduct during his closing argument by disparaging the defense.
- 4. The reasonable doubt instruction given by the trial court required jurors to have more than a reasonable doubt to acquit and shifted the burden to Le to provide jurors with a reason for acquittal. This reasonable doubt instruction is constitutionally defective.

5. Cumulative error denied Le a fair trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. When the State's evidence fails to show that Le was released by court order, an essential element of the crime of bail jumping per the law of the case, was the State's evidence insufficient to support a conviction for bail jumping?
- 2. Witnesses may not offer an opinion explicitly or implicitly as to a criminal defendant's guilt. A law enforcement witness testified that to facilitate undercover operations she had "to talk about how criminals act . . . even down to the way they stand, the way they dress." This witness also stated, "We are portraying the bad guy and how to get what we need to catch the bad guy in this role." Then this witness described how she acted and dressed to catch Le. Did this deny Le his constitutional right to a fair and impartial trial?
- 3. In closing argument, the prosecutor disparaged defense counsel by likening defense counsel's arguments to "Alice's rabbit hole" and stating defense counsel's arguments were not within the "reasonable realm of thought." Did this improper disparagement deprive Le of a fair trial?

- 4a. Did the reasonable doubt instruction stating a "reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists" tell jurors that they must have more than just a reasonable doubt to acquit?
- 4b. Did the reasonable doubt instruction undermine the presumption of innocence and impermissibly shift the burden of proof by telling jurors they must be able to articulate a reason to have a reasonable doubt?
- 4c. Does erroneously instructing a jury regarding the meaning of reasonable doubt vitiate the jury-trial right, constituting structural error?
- 5. Does the cumulative effect of the assigned errors, if the errors do not each themselves warrant reversal, require reversal?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Charges and motion to sever

The State initially charged Le with two counts of violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act for possessing cocaine on February 9, 2013 and for selling a material in lieu of a controlled substance on April 13, 2012. CP 1. The State later amended its charges to include a count for bail jumping for Le's failure to appear at the December 13, 2013 omnibus hearing. CP 45.

Le moved to sever all three of the charges for separate trials. CP 16-21. The prosecutor agreed to severance of the two drug charges and indicated the State would be dismissing the February 2013 drug charge if the State prevailed on the April 2012 drug charge. 1RP¹ 7-8, 10. After hearing argument, the trial court denied Le's motion to sever the bail jumping charge from the April 2012 drug charge. 1RP 31-32.

2. <u>Buy-bust operation</u>

Regarding the drug charge, police testified they had set up an undercover buy-bust operation in the International District of Seattle on April 13, 2013. 2RP 10, 46.

Seattle police officer Emily Clark was an undercover officer who was in costume to appear as a drug user attempting to purchase crack. 2RP 10-12. According to Clark, she had undergone significant training to conduct undercover operations. 2RP 7. She told jurors about her training:

The classroom portion of it is mostly undercover safety that we talk about, because we are now playing a role of a criminal, so we have to talk about how criminals act, the way -- even down to the way they stand, the way they dress. So it's talking about how to change your mindset to, now, we are not portraying as police officers. We are portraying the bad guy and how to get what we need to catch the bad guy in this role.

2RP 7. Clark also described how, when working in the International District, "where crack cocaine is prominent, the big transient area is an older

¹ This brief refers to the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: 1RP—May 1, 2014; 2RP—May 5, 2014; 3RP—May 6, 2014; 4RP—May 7, 2014; 5RP—June 6, 2014; 6RP—July 11, 2014.

crowd, like 40s, 50s, 60s. I will look transient. I will have dirty clothes, a dirty face, dirty fingernails." 2RP 9-10.

Clark testified she was engaged in such a sting on April 13, 2013, when she approached a 50-year-old Asian male with a ponytail and asked if he "had anything," referring to drugs. 2RP 10, 13. He asked her how much she was looking for, and Clark told him she had \$30. 2RP 14. At that point, the man walked down the way and moments later signaled Clark to follow him. 2RP 15-16. The man, about 20 yards ahead of Clark, crossed the street and was then with another Asian male, Le. 2RP 16-17.

Le introduced himself as Tony. 2RP 17. Clark repeated her question if Le had anything and again indicated she had \$30. 2RP 17-18. Le asked Clark to follow him and the three walked together to a nearby restaurant. 2RP 18-19. Le entered the restaurant and used the payphone inside. 2RP 19. Le exited the restaurant and told Clark someone was coming in a van to meet him. 2RP 20. A vehicle arrived in short order. 2RP 20. Le got inside the vehicle for less than a minute and then walked back, asking Clark for the money. 2RP 20-21.

Le gave Clark a piece of white folded paper that contained "a couple pieces of off-white rock-like substances," which Clark said appeared to be crack cocaine. 2RP 21-22. Clark gave Le one \$20 bill and two \$5 bills, and then gave a "predetermined good-buy signal to" the surveillance officers to

call in the arrest teams. 2RP 22-23. The teams responded and Le was arrested. 2RP 24, 50-51; 3RP 50-51.

Steven Reid, a forensic scientist at the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab, testified that he tested two white rocks that Le gave Clark and that they contained aspirin and caffeine only. 3RP 34, 36-37. That is, the "analysis did not detect any cocaine . . . [or] controlled substances in either of those items." 3RP 47.

3. <u>Bail jumping</u>

The State presented the testimony of Janet Llpaitan, who works for the Department of Judicial Administration as a courtroom clerk supervisor at King County Superior Court. 3RP 58-59. Llpaitan testified about various certified court documents and recordings that established the trial and hearing dates in Le's case. Exs. 9-13; 3RP 60-69. This included an August 14, 2013 order that warned Le a warrant may be issued for his arrest if he failed to appear at court hearings. Ex. 10; 3RP 61. This testimony also included an October 24, 2013 order that rescheduled the omnibus hearing date to December 13, 2013. Ex. 11; 3RP 61-62. Llpaitan testified that on December 13, 2013, a motion, certification, and order for a bench warrant issued for Le's failure to appear at an omnibus hearing. Ex. 13; 3RP 67-68.

Le testified he lost his papers and could not remember the exact date of the court hearing. 3RP 90, 92. Le stated he would have gone to court had he known he was supposed to be there on December 13, 2013. 3RP 96.

Neither the State nor the defense adduced evidence that Le had been released from custody by a court order.

4. <u>Jury instructions</u>

The trial court gave the standard reasonable doubt instruction, WPIC 4.01,² which reads, in part, "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence." CP 63; 3RP 106.

The trial court also defined bail jumping as "fail[ing] to appear as required after having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before a court." CP 71: 3RP 109. The to-convict instruction, however, omitted the "admitted to bail" definitional language, and instead recited the third element of bail jumping as requiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt "[t]hat the defendant had been released by court order with knowledge of the

-8-

² 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 4.01, at 85 (3d ed. 2008).

requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court." CP 72; 3RP 109.

5. Closing arguments

During defense closing, counsel point out that there was no evidence of a court order releasing Le. 3RP 122-24. Defense counsel stated, "And it's not just whether or not he had knowledge of a requirement of a subsequent personal appearance, but [he] has to be released by a court order with that knowledge. And none of [the documents admitted into evidence] do that." 3RP 124. On rebuttal, the State encouraged jurors to presume Le had been released by a court order: "unless he somehow dug himself out of custody [t]he only conclusion you can reach is, yes, he was released by court order." 3RP 132. But the State could not and did not point to any evidence to support its proposition that Le could not have been released but for a court order.

During her closing, defense counsel also attempted to challenge Officer Clark's references to persons in Le's position as "bad guys" and "criminals," asserting that it demonstrated law enforcement bias against homeless drug users. 3RP 128. She argued that such a bias was inappropriate and asked jurors not to adopt the bias and to be careful considering punishment may follow a conviction. 3RP 128.

On rebuttal, the State argued defense counsel was merely engaging in conspiracy theories. 3RP 130. Defense counsel objected that that was a mischaracterization of argument, but her objection was overruled. 3RP 130. The prosecutor argued defense counsel's assertion regarding Clark's bias was "wholly unreasonable and, if you want to follow Defense down Alice's rabbit whole through that line of argument " 3RP 131. Defense counsel objected for disparaging counsel, which the trial court again overruled. 3RP 131. The State then argued, "If you want to go down that route, well, that's your prerogative, but in no reasonable realm of thought is that going to be possible." 3RP 131.

6. Jury question, verdicts, sentence, and appeal

During deliberations, the jurors posed a question: "Per jury [to-convict bail jumping instruction] 12. What does 'release by court order' require [and] entail? What documents and procedures are necessary?" CP 75; 4RP 3. Defense counsel argued this question demonstrated the jury did not have enough information to conclude a court order had released Le. 4RP 3. The prosecutor and the trial court, however, agreed to instruct the jury. "You will not receive any further instruction on this issue." CP 76: 4RP 4.

The jury returned verdicts finding Le guilty of bail jumping and delivery of a material in lieu of a controlled substance. CP 77-78: 4RP 4-8.

The trial court sentenced Le to 60 months of incarceration for the delivery of a material in lieu of a controlled substance conviction. CP 99; 6RP 6. The trial court imposed a 51-month concurrent sentence for bail jumping. CP 99; 6RP 6. The trial court also imposed 12 months of community custody. CP 100; 6RP 10. Le timely appeals. CP 94-95.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF BAIL JUMPING BECAUSE IT FAILED TO ADMIT A RELEASE ORDER INTO EVIDENCE

The State bears the burden of proving all elements of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt as a matter of due process. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). A conviction must be reversed where, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, no rational trier of fact could find all elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Vasquez</u>. 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013). This court should hold the State to its burden and hold that the State did not present sufficient evidence to sustain a bail jumping conviction because no evidence showed Le was released by a court order.

Jury instructions to which neither party excepts or objects become the law of the case and delineate the State's proof requirements. <u>State v. Hickman</u>. 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) (citing <u>State v. Hanes</u>.

74 Wn.2d 721, 725, 446 P.2d 344 (1968)). Neither the State nor Le excepted or objected to the definitional or to-convict instructions with regard to bail jumping. 3RP 99-101. These instructions became the law of this case.

The court instructed the jury generally, "A person commits the crime of Bail Jumping when he fails to appear as required after having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before a court." CP 71; 3RP 109. The to-convict instruction with regard to bail jumping required each of the following elements to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about December 13, 2013, the defendant failed to appear before a court;
- (2) That the defendant was charged with Violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act Delivery of a Material in Lieu of a Controlled Substance;
- (3) That the defendant <u>had been released by court</u> <u>order</u> with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 72 (emphasis added); 3RP 109 (emphasis added).

In light of these jury instructions, the State was required to prove Le had been released by a court order.³ Accord State v. Malvern, 110 Wn. App.

-12-

³ The bail jumping statute, RCW 9A.76.170(1), provides alternate means for this element of the crime: "Any person having been released by court order <u>or</u> admitted to bail" (Emphasis added.) As the trial court's to-convict

811, 813, 43 P.3d 533 (2002) (reciting elements of bail jumping to include that the defendant "was released by court order"); State v. James, 104 Wn. App. 25, 36, 15 P.3d 1041 (2000) ("The corpus delicti [of bail jumping] includes: (1) being released from custody by a court order . . ."); State v. Pope, 100 Wn. App. 624, 627, 999 P.2d 51 (2000) (reciting elements of bail jumping to include that the defendant "was released by court order"). Even when viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the State failed to put forth evidence that Le had been released by a court order.

In its failed attempt to meet its burden, the State put on the testimony of Janet Llpaitan, who was employed by the King County Department of Judicial Administration as a courtroom clerk supervisor. 3RP 58-59. She testified regarding the contents of certified copies of various court documents that were admitted into evidence. 3RP 60-68; Exs. 10-13. None of these documents was a court order releasing Le.

Exhibit 10 was a Notice of Case Scheduling Hearing Date filed with the superior court clerk on August 14, 2013. Le signed this notice, which contained a boldface admonition that he "MUST BE PRESENT AT ALL HEARINGS OR A WARRANT MAY BE ISSUED FOR YOUR ARREST AND YOUR FAILURE TO APPEAR MAY RESULT IN ADDITIONAL

instruction on bail jumping makes clear, however, the State was required to prove the specific element of being released by court order in this case. CP 72; 3RP 109.

CRIMINAL CHARGES AGAINST YOU." Ex. 10: 3RP 60-61. While this notice informed Le he was required to be present at all hearings subject to criminal penalty, this notice was not a court order that released Le.

Exhibit 11 was a certified copy of an Order Continuing Trial dated October 24, 2013. The order continued the trial date from November 12, 2013 to January 8, 2014, and set December 13, 2013 as the date of the omnibus hearing. Ex. 11; 3RP 62. Llpaitan described the purpose of an omnibus hearing as "just a check-in to make sure . . . all the witnesses have been contacted and everything is ready to go for trial." 3RP 62-63. Le did not sign this order but his lawyer did. Ex. 11; 3RP 63-64. This order reset the trial and omnibus hearing dates. It was not a court order that released Le.

Exhibit 12 was a certified copy of a clerk's minutes entry on October 24, 2013 that noted Le was "appearing in person and by counsel" at the hearing. 3RP 64-66. It also provided that an interpreter was present for Le. Ex. 12; 3RP 66. This minute entry confirmed Le was present and that interpreter services were provided at the hearing. Exhibit 12 could not be construed as a court order at all, let alone a court order that released Le.

Exhibit 13 was a certified copy of a motion, certification, and order for bench warrant issued December 13, 2013 because "on this date the defendant failed to appear for . . . Omnibus Hearing" 3RP 68. This bench warrant authorized Le's arrest for failing to appear at the December

13, 2013 omnibus hearing. It did not establish that Le had been released by a court order.

Exhibit 9 contained certified audio recordings of the October 24, 2013 and December 13, 2013 hearings. 3RP 68-69. The parties stipulated regarding the audio recording, "The parties stipulate that the October 24, 2014 omnibus hearing relates to defendant Than Le. The jury will only hear a portion of the hearing that relates to setting a new omnibus and trial dates. This is evidence is [sic] being offered for the charge of Bail Jumping." CP 56; 3RP 75, 78. Audio recordings of court hearings regarding the rescheduling of court dates were not court orders releasing Le nor did they establish that Le had been released by court order.

This was the sole extent of the evidence put forth by the State to prove the elements of bail jumping. Thus, the State's evidence showed only (1) a warning to Le that he needed to appear at all hearings, (2) a minute entry and court order that set forth new trial and omnibus hearing dates. (3) a bench warrant issued for Le's failure to appear at the omnibus hearing, and (4) audio recordings relating to setting new omnibus and trial dates. Even when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, no rational finder of fact could have found that this evidence established that Le had been released by court order.

Le also testified. He stated he had been released after the underlying incident and planned on moving out of Seattle because he did not want to continue using drugs. 3RP 89-91. Le said he had received papers with court dates on them, but lost them. 3RP 90, 92. The prosecutor also confirmed during cross examination that Le was given copies of the court documents and notice of his court dates. 3RP 92-93.

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