NO. 72166-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

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

Br. of App't at 16.

• .

Υ.

This argument fails. Just because the jury might also reasonably have concluded that Le was released pursuant to bail does not mean that the jury's conclusion—that he was released pursuant to court order—was unreasonable.⁸ Nor does the jury's reasonable interpretation of the evidence somehow "write out" an element out of the statute. Because it was reasonable for the jury to conclude that Le was released by court order, his conviction should be affirmed.

⁸ The State does not concede that being released pursuant to bail would somehow be insufficient to prove that a defendant was released pursuant to court order. Indeed, bail is set by the court. There is no reason to conclude that the Bail Jumping statute provides mutually exclusive alternative means of committing the crime. Ultimately, however, this question is irrelevant; the sole issue is whether the evidence was sufficient for a reasonable juror to conclude that Le was released by court order.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED OFFICER CLARK'S TESTIMONY ABOUT UNDERCOVER SCHOOL.

Le argues that Officer Clark's use of the terms "bad guy" and "criminal" in describing her undercover training constituted an impermissible opinion of Le's guilt. This claim should be rejected. Officer Clark's testimony was not a comment on Le's guilt. Even if it was, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

a. Additional Facts.

Before recounting her interaction with Le, Officer Clark testified

about the training that she received in order to work on undercover

narcotics investigations:

•

:.

Clark:	In March of 2010, I attended the Seattle Police Department—well, they host it. It's open to law enforcement across the country. It's a two-week- long undercover school.
Prosecutor:	And at this school, what do they teach you?
Clark:	It's 10 working days, two weeks, but 10 working days. Four of the days are actual scenarios where we go and pretend that we're actually buying narcotics or acting like a prostitute with detectives, as they are the monitors. The classroom portion of it is mostly undercover safety that we talk about, because we are now playing a role of a criminal, so we have to talk about how criminals act, the way—even down to the way they stand, the way they dress. So it's talking about how to change your mindset to, now, we are not portraying as [sic] police officers. We are portraying the bad

guy and how to get what we need to catch the bad guy in this role.

Defense: Your Honor, I'm going to object to the use of the term, "bad guy."

The Court: Overruled.

2RP 7.

۰.

Ξ.

b. Clark's Testimony Was Not An Impermissible Opinion Of Guilt.

Le is correct that a witness may not express a personal belief as to the guilt of a defendant. <u>State v. Montgomery</u>, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). Impermissible opinion testimony may be reversible error because it violates the defendant's constitutional right to a fair jury trial, specifically, the independent determination of the facts by the jury. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 927, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

But Clark did not opine on Le's guilt. She testified that undercover school taught her how to act like a "criminal" and "bad guy." 2RP 7. She did not apply these terms to Le; she was talking about her training. Moreover, it is undeniably true, as the jury would have understood, that the purpose of undercover school is to teach police officers how to mimic criminal behavior. Clark's description of this training simply was not an opinion of guilt. Le's claim should be rejected.⁹

c. Any Error In Clark's Testimony Was Harmless Beyond A Reasonable Doubt.

Even if Clark's testimony could be construed as an improper opinion of guilt, Le's convictions should be affirmed because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See State v. Hayward</u>, 152 Wn. App. 632, 651-52, 217 P.3d 354 (2009) (improper opinion testimony subject to constitutional harmless error test). A constitutional error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily supports a finding of guilt. <u>State v.</u> <u>Easter</u>, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996).

The remaining evidence in this case was overwhelming. Le effectively admitted to the VUCSA charge when he testified that he negotiated with Clark for the sale of drugs, and that he sold her two pills that he knew to be cold medicine. 3RP 85-88. This was in addition to the

⁹ This Court may also reject Le's claim on the grounds that he failed to preserve this issue for review. "A party may only assign error in the appellate court on the specific ground of the evidentiary objection made at trial." <u>State v. Guloy</u>, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985) (emphasis added). Thus, an appellate court generally will not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 926. Here, Le objected to the use of the term "bad guy" but did not state any grounds. 2RP 7. Arguably, he has failed to preserve any claim that Officer Clark's testimony was impermissible opinion. <u>See State v. Carlson</u>, 61 Wn. App. 865, 869-70, 812 P.2d 536 (1991) (objection to testimony without stating grounds failed to preserve claim that testimony admitted in error).

testimony of the police officers who witnessed the transaction or took part in Le's arrest (even finding the same pre-recorded "buy money" on Le's person), and the forensic scientist who tested the substance. 3RP 17, 34, 36, 37, 51.

As for the Bail Jumping charge, the jury obviously recognized that the sole contested issue was whether Le's release had been authorized by court order. CP 75; 4RP 3. This procedural requirement had nothing whatsoever to do with Clark's testimony. Because any error in Clark's testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, Le's convictions should be affirmed.

3. THE PROSECUTOR PROPERLY RESPONDED TO DEFENSE COUNSEL'S ARGUMENT IN REBUTTAL CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Le argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by disparaging defense counsel during rebuttal closing argument, and that the asserted misconduct was so prejudicial that reversal is required. This claim is without merit. The challenged statements were proper because they were made specifically in response to arguments by Le's trial attorney, and concerned whether those arguments were supported by the evidence. Even if the prosecutor's statements were improper, they were harmless.

`.

a. Additional Facts.

In closing argument, despite Le's admissions on the stand, Le's attorney argued that there was "no testimony" that Le had negotiated any sort of drug transaction with Clark. 3RP 120-21; <u>but see</u> 3RP 87. She also argued that there was "no testimony" that Le had any knowledge of the type of substance that he gave to Clark—despite his testimony that he sold her cold medication, which he had tested first by trying to smoke. 3RP 121; <u>but see</u> 3RP 88.

Le's attorney then argued that Clark was "obviously" biased against homeless people and that Clark's alleged beliefs were "not appropriate":

Defense:	So when you go through these jury instructions, and when you look at the evidence, and you look at the—especially the demeanor and attitude of the jurors [sic], an officer who is, you know, talking about bad guys, and criminals, and obviously has a very strong bias against this specific type of person, a person who is homeless, who is on the street, who is a drug addict, and perceive [sic] them in that way, you certainly can't let her biases and beliefs impact you as jurors and the jury instructions [sic].
	I should tell you that, that, you know, that's not appropriate to be biased against somebody because of their circumstances in life

3RP 128.

۰.

1

The prosecutor then responded to defense counsel's argument that there was no evidence of Le's guilt, and that Clark was simply biased against people like Le. He suggested that this argument could be reduced to two basic assertions: (1) that the police officers were somehow conspiring, because of their biases, against the homeless, (2) or that Clark, as a function of her biases, had somehow grossly misunderstood her interactions with Le:

Prosecutor: ... [The] Defense is basically either claiming one of two things with respect to the drug charge, that this is either a conspiracy or a huge coincidental misunderstanding.

- **Defense:** Objection, misstates Defense counsel's argument.
- The Court: Overruled.
- **Prosecutor:** With respect to the conspiracy, basically, you'd have to believe that Officer Clark, because of some latent biases which didn't appear to come out when she was on the stand, was so jilted towards Mr. Le that she'd be setting him up for a crime like this, but not only just—not just her. She would also have to have Officer Witherbee, who found the buy money on Mr. Le, Officer Silva, who arrested him, Officer Blackburn, who took the drugs from Officer Clark, the drugs that she had been given by Mr. Le, and Officer Lilje, who observed pretty much all of the interaction—all of them would have to be involved with this conspiracy for some reason against the Defendant.

Defense: Objection, Your Honor.

The Court: Overruled.

с. •

Prosecutor:	That is wholly unreasonable and, if you want to follow Defense down Alice's rabbit hole through that line of argument—
Defense:	Objection, Your Honor—
The Court:	Overruled.
Defense:	disparaging counsel.
The Court:	Overruled.

3RP 130-31.

•.

The prosecutor then referred back to the evidence at trial,

explaining that counsel's argument was unreasonable in light of the fact

that Le had testified that he negotiated a drug sale with Clark and that he

had even tried smoking the cold medication first:

Prosecutor: If you want to go down that route, well, that's your prerogative, but in no reasonable realm of thought is that going to be possible. Additionally, the Defense is asserting, "Well, this is a coincidental misunderstanding, that, you know, Mr. Le wasn't trying to sell her any drugs, he was just trying to steal the [money] from her." And you know what? He testified to that end.

He also testified that, when it didn't work, when she wouldn't give him the money, he decided he would trick her by giving her the drugs that didn't work for him and trying to sell them to her. So apparently, though, that doesn't count as a transaction, the fact that not only did Officer Clark testify that they spoke about making this exchange, but Mr. Le admitted it himself.

- 19 -

And so, again, to conclude otherwise would be patently unreasonable. And all of the evidence that's been presented establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that, yes, there was an exchange, a knowing exchange on behalf of Mr. Le for these drugs, for money in exchange for fake drugs

3RP 131-32.

•

٠.

b. Standard Of Review.

Appellate courts review a trial court's rulings on allegations of prosecutorial misconduct under an abuse of discretion standard. <u>State v.</u> <u>Lindsay</u>, 180 Wn.2d 423, 430, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). The defendant must show that the comments were both improper and prejudicial. <u>Id.</u> at 430. In other words, the defendant bears the burden of showing that there is a substantial likelihood that any improper conduct affected the jury. <u>State v.</u> Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).

"As an advocate, the prosecuting attorney is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel." <u>State v. Brown</u>, 132 Wn.2d 529, 566, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). A prosecutor can of course argue that the evidence does not support the defense theory. <u>Lindsay</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 431. Indeed, a prosecutor has wide latitude, in closing argument, to draw and express reasonable inferences from the evidence. <u>State v. Gentry</u>, 125 Wn.2d 570, 641, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995). This is especially so in rebuttal closing argument, so long as the prosecutor's argument is in response to arguments made by defense counsel, and the prosecutor's comments refer to the evidence. <u>See State v. McKenzie</u>, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52-57, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) (prosecutor's repeated use of term "guilty" during rebuttal argument not misconduct where prosecutor was responding to defense theory and referring to evidence).

It is improper, however, for a prosecutor to impugn defense counsel's integrity or to disparage defense counsel. <u>Lindsay</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 431-32. But such "[r]emarks of the prosecutor, even if they are improper, are not grounds for reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to his or her acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective." <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

c. The Prosecutor's Argument Was Proper.

When defense counsel below claimed that there was no evidence of Le's guilt, and that Clark was biased against people like Le—and went so far as to inject her personal opinion that Clark's alleged beliefs were "not appropriate," 3RP 120-21, 128—the prosecutor properly responded to these arguments. The prosecutor explained that this argument was not supported by the evidence: first, because there was nothing in the record to establish that the police targeted Le because of bias; and second, because

there was in fact ample evidence of Le's guilt, including his own admissions. 3RP 130-32.

While the prosecutor could have expressed his rebuttal argument more artfully, or perhaps in more measured tones, the use of strong language to attack an argument does not equate to disparaging defense counsel. <u>See Brown</u>, 132 Wn.2d at 566 ("The use of the word 'ludicrous' [in rebuttal closing argument] was simply editorial comment by the prosecuting attorney which was a strong, but fair, response to the argument made by the defense."). Defense counsel's argument below was wholly unsupported and bafflingly at odds with Le's own testimony.¹⁰ The prosecutor did not commit misconduct by responding forcefully to counsel's unsupported argument. Le's claim should be rejected.

Even if the prosecutor's comments were improper, Le's claim should still be rejected because Le has failed to demonstrate prejudice. As noted, the evidence of Le's guilt was overwhelming. Defense counsel's arguments were fatally undermined by the evidence, not by the prosecutor's comments. Because any improper comments simply were not prejudicial, Le's convictions should be affirmed.

`.

¹⁰ Indeed, it was defense counsel below who made improper argument, as Le all but concedes on appeal. "While the State might be in denial about the social injustice of enforcing harsh drug policy against persons in Le's position," he writes, "defense counsel's arguments expressed hope that Seattle jurors were in better touch with reality." Br. of App't at 26-27. Such arguments simply urge jury nullification.

4. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE MEANING OF REASONABLE DOUBT.

Le asserts that the trial court instructed the jury on an incorrect definition of reasonable doubt. He claims that WPIC 4.01, the pattern instruction used in this case, misstates the burden of proof by defining a reasonable doubt as "one for which *a* reason exists." WPIC 4.01 (emphasis added); <u>see CP 63</u> (Instruction 3) ("A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence."). This, he claims, improperly requires the jury to articulate a reason for its doubt.

Le's claim should be rejected. The Washington Supreme Court expressly has approved of WPIC 4.01 as an accurate statement of law that properly instructs the jury on the meaning of reasonable doubt.

a. Additional Facts.

The trial court instructed the jury using WPIC 4.01, which defines reasonable doubt as one for which a reason exists:

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 63 (Instruction 3); 3RP 106-07.

Le took exception to the "abiding belief" language contained in WPIC 4.01, but did not object to the definition of reasonable doubt as "one for which a reason exists."¹¹ 3RP 100.

b. The Trial Court Properly Instructed The Jury On The Meaning Of Reasonable Doubt.

"Generally, a criminal defendant may not raise an objection to a jury instruction for the first time on appeal unless it relates to a 'manifest error affecting a constitutional right." <u>State v. O'Donnell</u>, 142 Wn. App. 314, 321-22, 174 P.3d 1205 (2007) (quoting RAP 2.5(a)(3)). Le's claim fails because there was no error, let alone a manifest constitutional error. The Washington Supreme Court expressly has approved WPIC 4.01. Le has not shown that it is incorrect and harmful.

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